Dissertationes Forestales 255

Climate impacts of carbon sequestration of forests and material substitution by energy biomass and harvested wood products under boreal conditions

Tarit Kumar Baul School of Forest Sciences Faculty of Science and Forestry University of Eastern Finland

Academic dissertation

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Science and Forestry of the University of Eastern Finland, for public criticism in the auditorium BOR100 of the University of Eastern Finland, Yliopistokatu 7, Joensuu, on 14 June 2018 at 12 o'clock noon.

Title of dissertation: Climate impacts of carbon sequestration of forests and material substitution by energy biomass and harvested wood products under boreal conditions

Author: Tarit Kumar Baul

Dissertationes Forestales 255

https://doi.org/10.14214/df.255 Use licence <u>CC BY-NC-ND 4.0</u>

Thesis Supervisors: Dr., Docent Antti Kilpeläinen (main supervisor) School of Forest Sciences, University of Eastern Finland, Joensuu, Finland

Dr. Ashraful Alam School of Forest Sciences, University of Eastern Finland, Joensuu, Finland

Pre-examiners: Professor Hardi Tullus Institute of Forestry and Rural Engineering, Estonian University of Life Sciences, Tartu, Estonia

Principal Scientist Risto Sievänen Natural Resources Institute Finland, Helsinki, Finland

Opponent: Research Professor Raisa Mäkipää Natural Resources Institute Finland, Helsinki, Finland

ISSN 1795-7389 (online) ISBN 978-951-651-600-7 (pdf)

ISSN 2323-9220 (print) ISBN 978-951-651-601-4 (paperback)

Publishers: Finnish Society of Forest Science Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki School of Forest Sciences of the University of Eastern Finland

Editorial Office: Finnish Society of Forest Science, Dissertationes Forestales Viikinkaari 6, 00790 Helsinki, Finland http://www.dissertationesforestales.fi **Baul T.K.** (2018). Climate impacts of carbon sequestration of forests and material substitution by energy biomass and harvested wood products under boreal conditions. Dissertationes Forestales 255. 38 p.

https://doi.org/10.14214/df.255

ABSTRACT

This study aimed to investigate the climate impacts of carbon sequestration in forests, and the substitution of fossil energy (e.g., coal, oil) and fossil-based materials (e.g., concrete, steel, plastic) with harvested energy biomass and timber (pulpwood, sawlogs) under Finnish boreal conditions. The study employed forest ecosystem model simulations and a life cycle assessment tool to calculate the net CO₂ exchange for the forest-based biosystem. The effects of stocking in thinning, nitrogen fertilization, and the use of varying rotation lengths (Papers I–III) and harvest intensities in final felling (timber, logging residues, with and without coarse roots and stumps) (Papers I, III) on the climate impacts and economic profitability of biomass production (Papers I, III) were studied. Current Finnish forest management recommendations for thinning, aimed at timber production, were used as a baseline. In addition, the sensitivity of climate impacts to displacement factors and timber use efficiency was studied (Paper II). This work was conducted at the stand level, with a mature stand as a starting point (Paper I), at the landscape level, under alternative initial forest age structures (Paper II), and at the regional level, using national forest inventory data in southern Finland (Paper III).

This study revealed that the best option for increasing the climate impacts of biomass production and utilization was through maintaining up to 20% higher stocking, nitrogen fertilization, and using 80-100-year rotations, since they increased carbon sequestration and timber and energy biomass yields (Papers I-III). However, there was a tradeoff between the greatest climate impact and the economic profitability of biomass production (Papers I, III). Sawn wood products were the best option for long-term substitution and increasing carbon stocks of wood products (Papers I-III). It was also found that the effects of substitution and timber use efficiency on climate impacts were higher than those of the thinning regimes (Paper II). Consequently, the greatest climate impacts were found when intensified biomass harvesting was performed, and the prominent regions for increasing climate impacts over the next 40-year period were the southern and eastern sub-regions of Finland (Papers I, III). Furthermore, the climate impacts were found to be sensitive to the initial conditions set for the analyses, which affected the timing of the climate impacts and the preference of forest management in climate change mitigation. This indicates that management measures, together with the initial conditions of the forests, should be considered when evaluating efficient options for increasing climate impacts by forests and substitution.

Keywords: carbon sequestration, carbon stock, climate impact, displacement factor, emissions, fossil-based materials, life cycle assessment, net present value

PREFACE

At this point of no return, I profoundly recall my father (late Surjya Kanta Baul), a noble English teacher and writer, who had some impacts on me. My father kindled my inner impulse for teaching and research, since I used to observe the way he taught and delivered speeches, which was hypnotizing. His inspiration and enthusiasm for higher studies was what animated me to pursue a degree. My father wanted to see me do a degree, and I developed a passionate dream for undertaking a doctorate degree in forestry at a renowned university. My dearest mother (Ashima Baul) keenly wanted me to fulfill my father's desire, and my dream has now come true. I also acquired a lesson from my mother, who has enormous endurance and a calm character, in how to tackle difficulties in moving forward. My parents' unconditional affection and zeal has always made me feel more capable in this journey of finishing my degree.

This moment reminds me of my late grandmother, who had the great virtues of generosity and simplicity, showed me the path for being better human. No words are enough for my parents and two elder brothers (journalists), Sanath Baul and Pranab Baul. From the beginning, my beloved elder brothers, sister (Susmita), brother-in-law (Shomen), sisters-in-law (Shaptarshi & Sumi), charming nephews, nieces, and enthusiastic cousins have always been with me with their everlasting love and mental support, helping me to reach this position. I owe everything to all of them. Many thanks to all my lovely relatives, especially maternal and paternal uncles and aunts, without whose continuous encouragement through these years, this dissertation would not yet have been completed. I love all of them, and I dedicate this thesis to my parents, grandmother, brothers, sister, extended family members, and relatives, who have been eagerly anticipating for.

I would like to express my heartiest gratitude to Dr., Docent Antti Kilpeläinen, Senior Researcher (main supervisor) and Dr. Ashraful Alam for their proficient guidance, valuable advice, and expert comments throughout my doctoral research. This research work was conducted under the internationally renowned research group of the 'Dynamics and Management of Boreal Forests' at the School of Forest Sciences, University of Eastern Finland (UEF), Finland. I would like to thank, wholeheartedly, the head of the research group, Prof. Heli Peltola, who endorsed my joining of this group, and who offered suggestions continuously, from the beginning to the end. I am deeply indebted to Mr. Harri Strandman for his technical assistance during my research work. I am profoundly grateful to Prof. Antti Asikainen, Natural Resources Institute, Joensuu, Finland for his valuable time in being a mentor in this work. My deep appreciation goes to all of my co-authors for their sincere contributions to the research. I am also heartily thankful to the head of the school, and all the administrative staff, for their supportive roles in dealing with the logistics underpinning my research work.

I greatly acknowledge all of the financial sources I have received. This research work was supported by the Fortum Foundation (201400137), the Finnish Cultural Foundation (55161247), the Finnish Society of Forest Science, the UEF, School of Forest Sciences, and the FORBIO project (project number 14970 & decision number 293380) of the UEF.

I cordially thank all the wonderful and philanthropic Finnish people for helping me to settle here. I am obliged to all of my research colleagues and fellows, at and outside, the School of Forest Sciences of the UEF, for being supportive in tangible and intangible ways. Research fellows and friends Eetu Kotivuori, Laith Alrahahleh, Dr. Sepul Barua, Dr. Kamrul Hassan, Dr. Parvez Rana, Dr. Ranjith Gopalakrishnan, Dr. Jinnan Gong, Dr. Pradipta Halder, Dr. Anas Zyadin, Sandra Sandar, Olalla Diáz Yáñez, Augustine Gbagir, Juhani Marttila, Yeasinur Rahman, Karthikeyan Natarajan, Syed Adnan, Dmitrii Lepilin, Mihails Cugunovs, Luis Puerto, Esa-Petteri Kauppinen, and Toni Sanio are worthy of mention. All of my friends and well-wishers, at home and abroad, inspired me to proceed with this dissertation, and all of them are remarkably appreciated. I am delighted to mention Prof. Carsten Smith-Hall, Prof. Lars Vesterdal, and Lars Holger Schmidt (Copenhagen, Denmark) and Prof. Morag McDonald, Dr. Robert Brook, and Dr. Mark Rayment (Bangor, UK), whose inspiring words and kind responses have helped me for being prolific. My special thanks to Dr. Fergus Sinclair, Dr. Tim Pagella, and Genevieve Agaba, Bangor, UK for getting me introduced with simulations-based natural resource management. My dear friends Lærke Aaboe-Jacobsen and Sidsel Fogh Thormose, Copenhagen, Denmark, who perceived my aptitude for teaching, are also notably acknowledged.

I sincerely valued the comments and suggestions of the preliminary examiners, Prof. Hardi Tullus, Institute of Forestry and Rural Engineering, Estonian University of Life Sciences, Tartu, Estonia and Risto Sievänen, Principal Scientist, Natural Resources Institute Finland, Helsinki, Finland, who meticulously reviewed the thesis.

I would like to extend my earnest gratitude to the authority of the Institute of Forestry and Environmental Sciences, University of Chittagong (IFESCU), Bangladesh for providing me with leave of absence to complete the doctoral study. All of my respected teachers, colleagues, and the staff of the IFESCU are enormously thanked for rendering their support, to help me, in multiple ways, throughout the years.

At last, though definitely not least, I cannot but remember the courageous people who have long been fighting the adverse impacts of climate change in Bangladesh.

Tarit Kumar Baul Joensuu, June 2018

LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

This thesis is a summary of the following articles, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals (i.e., Paper I, II, III). Papers I and III have been reprinted with the kind permission of the publishers. Paper II is the author's version of a submitted manuscript.

I. Baul T.K., Alam A., Strandman H., Kilpeläinen A. (2017). Net climate impacts and economic profitability of forest biomass production and utilization in fossil fuel and fossilbased material substitution under alternative forest management. Biomass and Bioenergy 98: 291–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombiog.2017.02.007

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2017.02.007

- II. Baul T.K., Alam A., Strandman H., Seppälä J., Peltola H., Kilpeläinen A. (2018). Does thinning regime affect climate impacts of forest biomass production and utilization in Norway spruce less than timber use efficiency and substitution impacts? (Manuscript in review)
- III. Baul T.K., Alam A., Ikonen A., Strandman H., Asikainen A., Peltola H., Kilpeläinen A. (2017). Climate change mitigation potential in boreal forests: impacts of management, harvest intensity and use of forest biomass to substitute fossil resources. Forests 8: 455. https://doi.org/10.3390/f8110455

Tarit Kumar Baul (Baul T.K.) was the primary author of all of these papers, and was responsible for model-based analyses and the writing of Papers I and III. The primary author performed data analysis and writing together with the co-authors of Paper II. The co-authors improved the papers by commenting on, and editing, the manuscripts.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ABSTRACT |
|--|
| PREFACE4 |
| LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES |
| ABBREVIATIONS AND DEFINITIONS |
| 1 INTRODUCTION |
| 1.1 Background of the study11 |
| 1.2 Aims of the study13 |
| 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS |
| 2.1 System boundaries of the study |
| 2.2 Outlines of the models used |
| 2.2.1 SIMA ecosystem model |
| 2.2.2 Life cycle assessment (LCA) tool |
| 2.3 Management and harvesting scenarios of model-based simulations16 |
| 2.4 Analysis of simulation outputs18 |
| 3 RESULTS |
| 3.1 Effects of forest management on biomass yield and the economic profitability of forest production |
| 3.2 Climate impacts of carbon sequestration and the substitution of fossil materials and energy |
| 3.3 Sensitivity of climate impacts to displacement factors and timber use efficiency21 |
| 4 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS |
| 4.1 Evaluation of the modelling approaches |
| 4.2 Effects of forest management on biomass yield, and the economic profitability of forest production |
| 4.3 Climate impacts of biomass production and utilization |
| 4.4 Conclusions |
| REFERENCES |

ABBREVIATIONS AND DEFINITIONS

| Symbol/Term | Definition | | | | | | |
|--------------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| a | Year | | | | | | |
| BN | Logging residues (top parts of stems, branches, and needles) | | | | | | |
| BNR | Logging residues (top parts of stems, branches, and needles), | | | | | | |
| | coarse roots, and stumps | | | | | | |
| CO_2 | Carbon dioxide | | | | | | |
| C_{net} (Climate impact) | Net CO_2 exchange of the forest-based biosystem, based on summation of the NEE, the stock change in wood products (C_{hwp}) | | | | | | |
| | (inflow-outflow), the carbon emissions from the combustion of | | | | | | |
| | energy biomass (Ceb) and processing waste (Cwaste), from | | | | | | |
| | management (C_{man}) and manufacturing of wood products from timber (C_{manu}), and the substitution impact (C_{subst}). Negative values of C_{net} indicate climate benefits | | | | | | |
| CCME (Climate change | Total cumulative radiative forcing (CRF) was divided by the total | | | | | | |
| <i>mitigation efficiency</i>) | amount of harvested timber, and expressed as nW m ⁻³ of timber | | | | | | |
| DBH | Tree breast height diameter at final felling | | | | | | |
| DF | Displacement factor (tC tC ⁻¹) for wood products, energy biomass | | | | | | |
| | and processing waste | | | | | | |
| EC | European Commission | | | | | | |
| EU | European Union | | | | | | |
| FF | Final felling | | | | | | |
| GHG | Greenhouse gas | | | | | | |
| ha | Hectare | | | | | | |
| I (Net climate impact) | Difference in annual net CO ₂ exchange caused by emissions and | | | | | | |
| | sequestration between the biosystem (I_{BIO}) and the fossil system | | | | | | |
| | (I _{REF}). Negative values of I indicate climate benefits | | | | | | |
| IEA | International Energy Agency | | | | | | |
| IPCC | Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change | | | | | | |
| LCA | Life Cycle Assessment | | | | | | |
| LULUCF | Land Use, Land Use Change and Forestry | | | | | | |
| Mg | Megagram (ton) | | | | | | |
| N | Nitrogen | | | | | | |
| n | Nano | | | | | | |
| NFI | National Forest Inventory | | | | | | |
| NPV | Net present value | | | | | | |
| NEE (Net ecosystem | Difference between sequestration of CO_2 in biomass growth (C_{seq}) | | | | | | |
| CO_2 exchange) | and emissions from decomposition of soil organic matter (C_{decomp}). | | | | | | |
| | Sequestration and decomposition are expressed as negative (-) and positive (+) values, respectively | | | | | | |
| | positive (+) values, respectively | | | | | | |

| RF (Radiative forcing) | The impacts of CO ₂ on the atmosphere (i.e., change in the balance |
|------------------------|---|
| | of incoming and outgoing energy in the Earth-atmosphere |
| | system). Negative values of RF indicate a cooling climate impact |
| Т | Timber |
| t | Ton (Megagram) |
| UNFCCC | United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change |
| W | Watt |
| Energy biomass | Logging residues, coarse roots, and stumps from final felling |
| Forest biomass | Timber and energy biomass |
| Fossil-based materials | Steel, concrete, plastic |
| Fossil energy | Coal, oil |
| Processing waste | Pulping (black liquor) and sawing (bark, sawdust) residues |
| Timber | Pulpwood and sawlogs |
| Timber use efficiency | The share of wood products (in %) manufactured from timber |
| Wood products | Pulp/paper products and sawn wood obtained from pulpwood and |
| | sawlogs, respectively |

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background of the study

An increase in atmospheric greenhouse gas (GHG) concentrations, particularly carbon dioxide (CO₂), is warming global climate (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [IPCC] 2014a). Keeping the temperature increase below 2° C, compared to the pre-industrial level, requires a reduction in CO₂ and other GHG emissions by 40–70% by 2050, based on 2010 concentrations, and emissions should be near zero or negative by 2100 (IPCC 2014a; UNFCCC 2015). The IPCC emphasizes an integrated strategy for climate change mitigation that involves reducing the use of fossil energy and fossil-based materials, and enhancing carbon sinks in the land use, land use change, and forestry (LULUCF) sector (IPCC 2014a, 2014b). Forests offer possible pathways for climate change mitigation through the sequestration and storage of carbon in forests and harvested biomass, and the use of harvested biomass as a substitute for fossil energy and fossil-based materials, so as to reduce atmospheric CO₂ emissions (e.g., Canadell and Raupach 2008; Lemprière et al. 2013; IPCC 2014b; Kurz et al. 2016).

The European Union's (EU) policy of climate change mitigation aims to raise the share of renewable energy to 27% and 55% in final energy consumption by 2030 and 2050, respectively, with a vision of 40% and 80–95% emissions reductions, compared to 1990 (European Commission [EC] 2011a, 2016). In the EU, an increased use of forest biomass is seen as one of the fundamental strategies for climate change mitigation (EC 2011b; EU 2015). The Nordic countries, with their extensive forest resources, are a potential source of biomass and industrial by-products (e.g., black liquor, bark, sawdust, wood chips, other wood residues) that could be used in energy generation and achieving the targets set in climate policy for climate change mitigation (Rytter et al. 2015, 2016; International Energy Agency [IEA] 2016). Currently, in Finland and Sweden, for example, timber (sawlogs and pulpwood) is widely used in the sawing, pulping, and paper industries for the manufacture of wood-based products (Gustavsson and Tullin 2014; Koponen et al. 2015; Natural Resources Institute 2017a) that act, in addition to industrial by-products, as substitutes for fossil-based materials and fossil energy (Portin et al. 2013; IEA 2016).

Finland's commitment to the EU policy of climate and energy is an 80% emissions reduction by 2050, relative to 1990 levels (Climate Change Act 609/2015, Ministry of the Environment 2015). Accordingly, it aims to raise the share of total renewable energy to 38% by 2020 and to 50-60% by 2050 (Ministry of Employment and the Economy 2014). The annual share of total renewable energy in total energy consumption was, on average, 33%, with an 80% share of forestbased renewable energy in the form of industrial by-products (65%) and energy biomass (15%) (Statistics Finland 2016). Energy biomass, in the form of small-sized stem wood, logging residues, roots/stumps (in final fellings), and small-sized trees (in early/energy wood thinnings), is being used in power generation and district heating (Koponen et al. 2015; IEA 2016). In final fellings, coarse roots and stumps are harvested, mainly from Norway spruce (Picea abies L. Karst) stands, and in energy wood thinnings, small-sized trees are harvested from Norway spruce, Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.), and broadleaved species stands. The annually harvested yields of timber and energy biomass were 62 and 8 million m³, respectively, in 2016 (Natural Resources Institute 2017b). The amount of timber harvested is set to be increased by 10–30 million m³ in the near future, however, to contribute to the Finnish bioeconomy (Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment 2014).

Current Finnish forest management recommendations aimed at producing mainly timber (Äijälä et al. 2014) may need to be modified to potentially utilize existing forest resources to

increase carbon sequestration and integrated biomass (timber and energy biomass) production for mitigating climate change (Matala et al. 2009; Routa et al. 2011a; Pyörälä et al. 2014; Hynynen et al. 2015). Over a stand rotation, carbon sequestration, stocks, and energy biomass can be increased by using higher stocking in forests than currently recommended in thinnings (Garcia-Gonzalo et al. 2007a; Nunery and Keeton 2010; Alam et al. 2012; Kilpeläinen et al. 2016a). However, the delayed thinnings, and a consequent decrease in the share of sawlogs, may decrease the economic profitability of forest production (Torssonen et al. 2016). Conversely, annual timber production could be increased by using lower thinning thresholds, regardless of species, but this may decrease carbon sequestration and stocks (Alam et al. 2008). Using short rotations of 30-60 years may increase both annual biomass production and economic profitability, but long rotations of 80–100 years may increase carbon stocks in forests (Pyörälä et al. 2012; Routa et al. 2012; Kilpeläinen et al. 2016b). Intensified biomass harvests from final fellings (timber, in addition to logging residues and stumps/roots) in Norway spruce stands decrease carbon stocks in forests (Mäkipää et al. 2015), but nitrogen fertilization increases both carbon sequestration, stocks, and biomass production, as well as the economic profitability of forest production in boreal conditions (Sathre et al. 2010; Routa et al. 2011b; Bergh et al. 2014; Hedwall et al. 2014).

The management measures required to produce the desired amount of carbon sequestration and harvestable biomass depend also on the initial conditions of the forests (e.g., age structure) (Garcia-Gonzalo et al. 2007b; Alam et al. 2010; Malmsheimer et al. 2011; Eliasson et al. 2013), and may have subsequent effects on the timing of the climate impacts of biomass production and utilization (Kilpeläinen et al. 2016a, 2017; Zubizarreta Gerendiain et al. 2016). Carbon sequestration is highest in middle-aged stands and lowest in mature stands, which is opposite to timber production. The highest timber yields for a landscape consisting of Norway spruce and Scots pine stands have been found over a 100-year study period when the initial age structure was dominated by mature stands (Garcia-Gonzalo et al. 2007b). A landscape consisting of Norway spruce, and initially dominated by middle-aged stands, produced the lowest CO₂ emissions for energy biomass, in comparison to using coal, when using a 120-year rotation (Routa et al. 2012), whereas a landscape dominated initially by young stands produced the lowest CO_2 emissions when using 60-80-year rotations (Routa et al. 2012; Kilpeläinen et al. 2017). The interactive effects of forest management and initial conditions on the climate impacts of biomass production and utilization (Mitchell et al. 2012; Kilpeläinen et al. 2017) can be studied by applying model simulations. These offer the means to study the development of carbon sequestration, forest carbon stocks, and timber and energy biomass production over any given study period (Hynynen et al. 2015; Heinonen et al. 2017; Pilli et al. 2017).

The utilization of wood products (e.g., sawn wood and pulp/paper products) mitigates climate change by avoiding carbon emissions from the use of fossil-based materials (e.g., concrete, steel and plastic) (Gustavsson et al. 2006, 2017; Eriksson et al. 2007; Lundmark et al. 2014; Smyth et al. 2017a). The retention of carbon in the wood products depends on the type of product and its lifespan (Pingoud et al. 2010; Werner et al. 2010). The substitution impacts of using wood products and energy biomass depend on the timing of their entry into the technosystem (Gustavsson and Sathre 2011; Sathre and Gustavsson 2011, 2012; Mitchell et al. 2012; Lundmark et al. 2014; Smyth et al. 2017a, 2017b). For example, the combustion of energy biomass produces an instantly higher amount of carbon emissions per energy unit than that of fossil fuels (Repo et al. 2012, 2015a; Gustavsson et al. 2015), and may therefore have a lower substitution potential than the use of wood products to replace fossil-based products (Pingoud et al. 2010; Jasinevičius et al. 2015; Kilpeläinen et al. 2016a). The climate impacts of using wood products also vary, however, depending on the differences in emissions of the substituted materials and the functional unit used in the study of these (Sathre and O'Connor 2010; Ter-Mikaelian et al. 2015a; Smyth et al. 2017a).

Displacement factors (i.e., one ton of fossil carbon emissions avoided per ton of carbon used in wood products, tC tC⁻¹) are used to evaluate the substitution impacts of using wood products in place of fossil-based materials and fuels (Schlamadinger and Marland 1996). A wide range of displacement factors can be found in previous reviews of wood products; for example, 0.25 to 5.6 (Geng et al. 2017) and -2.3 to 15.0 (Sathre and O'Connor 2010), which varied with differences in application (e.g., wood vs steel, wood vs concrete) and the final wood products (Werner et al. 2005; Knauf et al. 2015; Cintas et al. 2016). The magnitude of displacement factors also depends on the development of new wood products that substitute for fossil-based materials (Werner et al. 2015; Rüter et al. 2016; Suter et al. 2017).

Life cycle assessments (LCAs) can be used to study the climate impacts of forest biomass production and biomass utilization (Kilpeläinen et al. 2011; Ter-Mikaelian et al. 2015b). All of the emissions and sequestration of carbon can be studied by means of an attributional LCA (ALCA) in a biosystem, whereas the consequential LCA (CLCA) considers both the direct and indirect impacts between the compared systems through time (Cherubini et al. 2011; Lippke et al. 2011; Kilpeläinen et al. 2012; Plevin et al. 2013; Ter-Mikaelian et al. 2015b). The results from LCAs vary due to the different temporal and spatial (e.g., stand, landscape, regional scale) system boundaries set for each study, and different assumptions made in the calculations (Helin et al. 2013; Buchholz et al. 2014, 2016; Klein et al. 2015). The timing of emissions and sequestration of carbon affect the climate impacts of energy biomass and wood products (e.g., Sathre et al. 2010; Sathre and Gustavsson 2011, 2012; Kilpeläinen et al. 2012, 2017; Cherubini et al. 2013). Therefore, climate impact assessments that include the temporal dynamics of carbon exchange can be studied by using different time periods (McKechnie et al. 2011; Helin et al. 2016). When a dynamic forest-based biosystem is compared to the fossil system, the forest land use option in the fossil system should also be quantified (Haus et al. 2014).

1.2 Aims of the study

In this work, the main aim was to investigate the climate impacts of carbon sequestration in forests, and the substitution of fossil energy (e.g., coal and oil) and fossil-based materials (e.g., concrete, steel and plastic) with forest biomass (energy biomass, pulpwood and sawlogs) under the boreal conditions in Finland. The study was conducted under varying forest management scenarios at stand, landscape and regional levels. The specific objectives were:

- to investigate the net climate impact and economic profitability of biomass production and utilization in fossil fuel and fossil-based materials substitution in a Norway spruce stand under alternative forest management over 60–100-year rotations (Paper I);
- to analyze whether the thinning regime affects the climate impacts of forest biomass production and utilization less than timber use efficiency and substitution impacts in Norway spruce forest areas with alternative initial age structures over a 80-year period (Paper II); and
- (iii) to investigate the impacts of alternative forest management scenarios and harvest intensities on the climate impacts of forest biomass production and utilization in southern Finland over a 40-year period (Paper III).

2 MATERIALS AND METHODS



2.1 System boundaries of the study



Figure 1 shows the system boundaries, with flows of carbon in the forest-based biosystem and technosystem when forest biomass replaces fossil-based materials and energy in the fossil system. In Paper I, the climate impacts of forest biomass production and utilization were calculated by employing the CLCA, and were expressed as a difference in net CO_2 exchanges (C_{net}) between the biosystem and fossil system. In Papers II and III, an ALCA was used. The C_{net} included carbon sequestration in the growth of trees, emissions from soil decomposition, emissions from the combustion of processing waste (Papers I–III) and energy biomass (Papers I, III), emissions from forest management operations, and from the manufacturing of final wood products (Papers I, II). The change in the wood product stocks in use was also considered (Papers I–III). The substitution impacts of forest biomass were quantified by using displacement factors (tC tC⁻¹; Papers II, III). The climate impacts were calculated under alternative management (Papers I–III) and harvesting scenarios (Papers I, III).

The modelling work strictly obeyed the management scenarios, and therefore, the potential of produced biomass in substituting for fossil materials and fossil fuels should be considered as a maximum biological potential. The modelling work was conducted at the stand level, with a mature stand as a starting point (Paper I), at the landscape level, under alternative initial forest age structures (Paper II), and at the regional level (Paper III), for various study periods and rotations. The effects of alternative management and harvesting scenarios in the biosystem were used to study the sensitivity of climate impacts to the changes in the biomass production (Papers I-III). In Paper I, alternative reference managements in the fossil system were used to study the sensitivity of climate impacts of biomass production and utilization.

2.2 Outlines of the models used

2.2.1 SIMA ecosystem model

A gap-type forest ecosystem model (SIMA) (Kellomäki et al. 2005, 2008) was utilized to simulate the net ecosystem CO_2 exchange (NEE), and production of timber (pulpwood and sawlogs) and energy biomass, in Papers I–III. The NEE refers to the balance between carbon sequestration in growth (above- and below-ground living biomass) and carbon emissions from decaying soil organic matter (humus and litter).

In the SIMA model, the growth and development of a tree stand are simulated under the influences of the temperature sum $(+5^{\circ}C)$, sunlight availability, soil moisture, nitrogen availability, atmospheric CO₂ concentration, and forest management. The growth of a single tree is based on stem diameter growth at breast height (1.3 m above ground level), and is a product of potential diameter growth and species-specific multipliers for environmental factors.

The dynamics of the forest ecosystem is determined by the number and mass of trees as a function of their regeneration, growth, and death, based on the availability of resources. Trees may die either due to competition for resources or randomly. In addition to dead trees, the litter from different components of living trees (foliage, branches, and fine roots) are decomposed in the soil system and converted to humus. The decomposition rate of litter and humus is dependent on evapotranspiration and the chemical components content (nitrogen, lignin, and ash) of the litter and humus. The decomposition of nitrogen, which makes nitrogen bound in humus available for tree growth.

Management includes planting of a given species at a desired spacing, thinning, nitrogen fertilization, final felling, and a varying length of rotations. Timing and frequency of thinning over a rotation are determined based on the thresholds for a basal area (cross-sectional area of stems of all trees in a stand), which are a function of the dominant height of the trees (i.e., the average heights of the 100 tallest trees) in the stand. Whenever a given upper threshold for the basal area is reached, at a given dominant height, thinning is triggered, and the basal area is reduced to the recommended level. In harvesting, timber production is considered in thinnings and final fellings. Pulpwood includes logs with a top diameter of 6.5 to <17 cm, and sawlogs include logs with a top diameter of 17 cm and above. Energy biomass denotes for logging residues (the tops of stems not suitable for timber, branches, and needles) and coarse roots, and stumps that were harvested in final fellings.

2.2.2 Life cycle assessment (LCA) tool

The LCA tool utilized the SIMA model outputs (i.e., the NEE, and timber and energy biomass yields) to estimate annual net CO₂ exchange (C_{net} , g CO₂ m² a⁻¹), as caused by all the main phases included in forest production and biomass utilization in substitution of fossil-based materials and fuels (Kilpeläinen et al. 2011; Alam et al. 2017). In addition to NEE, the C_{net} included CO₂ emissions from the forest management, manufacturing of wood products from timber, the degradation of wood products, and combustion of energy biomass and of the processing waste of timber (Papers I–III). The annual stock change in wood products (Papers II, III) was calculated as the annual difference between inflow of wood products into the technosystem and outflow of wood products (emissions from degradation) (Karjalainen et al. 1994). The substitution impacts were quantified by using product-specific displacement factors (Papers II, III), the default values of which were 0.5, 1, and 2 for processing waste/energy biomass, pulp/paper products, and sawn wood (tC tC⁻¹), respectively (Schlamadinger and Marland 1996; Sathre and O'Connor 2010;

Geng et al. 2017). In addition, the timber use efficiency (a proportion of roundwood used for wood products) was also used in the calculation of the C_{net} (Paper II).

The LCA tool considers C_{net} as giving negative (-) values when CO₂ flow was from the atmosphere into the ecosystem, and positive (+) values for the reverse direction of CO₂ flow. The values for carbon sequestration in growth, increasing stock in wood products, and substitution benefits were considered to be negative (-). The C_{net} was further used to calculate radiative forcing (RF, nW m⁻²; Ramaswamy et al. 2001) (Paper II) to quantify the impacts of forest biomass production and utilization on atmospheric CO₂ concentrations (Kilpeläinen et al. 2012).

2.3 Management and harvesting scenarios of model-based simulations

In Paper I, the effects of forest management on the net climate impacts of forest biomass production and utilization in fossil fuel (coal and oil) and fossil-based material (concrete, steel and plastic) substitution were investigated in a Norway spruce stand on a medium fertile site in central Finland (Joensuu region) over 60–100-year rotations (Table 1). In the simulations, current business-as-usual Finnish forest management recommendations for thinning, aimed at producing timber (Äijälä et al. 2014) and maintaining an initial stand density of 2,500 stems ha⁻¹, were used as a baseline. Alternative management scenarios included 10–30% higher or lower stocking in thinnings than in the baseline, and/or nitrogen fertilization (150 kg N ha⁻¹ in thinnings). Harvest intensities included harvesting of only timber and timber with logging residues, coarse roots, and stumps in final fellings (Table 1). For the net climate impact calculations, either baseline or unthinned scenarios of the biosystem were used as a reference management in the reference fossil system. In addition, the fossil system was considered without the NEE of CO₂ (Paper I).

In Paper II, the effects of the thinning regime, substitution impacts, and timber use efficiency on climate impacts of biomass production and utilization were analyzed in model forest areas in central Finland (Joensuu region) over a 80-year period (Table 1). The area consisted of 80 pure Norway spruce stands on a medium fertile site type, and it had alternative initial age structures at the beginning of the simulations (Table 1). The initial age structures of the forest area were: i) right-skewed (mostly young stands); ii) normally distributed (mostly middle-aged stands); and iii) left-skewed (mostly mature stands). The current business-as-usual thinning recommendations to produce timber (Äijälä et al. 2014) were used as a baseline. Alternative thinning regimes included 20% higher or lower stocking in thinnings than in the baseline. Only timber was harvested in the thinnings and final fellings (Table 1).

In Paper III, the climate impacts of forest biomass production and utilization were investigated in southern Finland (old Forest Centre Units 1–10). The effects of alternative forest management scenarios and harvest intensities were studied in three sub-regions (namely southern, western, and eastern Finland) over a 40-year period (2016–2055), using the 10th (2004–2008) National Forest Inventory (NFI) forest data for upland mineral soils as input for the simulations (Table 1). Forest site fertility ranged from poor (CT) to fertile (OMT) site types (Table 1). The current business-as-usual thinning recommendations to produce timber (Äijälä et al. 2014), and a final felling made at a tree breast height diameter (DBH) of 26 cm, were used as a baseline. Alternative management scenarios included 20% higher or lower stocking in thinnings than in the baseline, and the use of final felling made at a DBH of 22 cm (Table 1). In alternative harvest intensities, logging residues, with and without coarse roots and stumps, were harvested, in addition to the timber in the final fellings (Table 1). **Table 1** Parameters and methods used in the simulations and forest management scenarios usedin Papers I–III. T = only timber, T+BN = timber and logging residues, T+BNR = timber, loggingresidues, coarse roots, and stumps.

| Parameter/method | Paper I | Paper II | Paper III | | | |
|--|--|--|---|--|--|--|
| Simulation location | Middle boreal zone, central Finland, Joensuu (62°39'N, 29°37'E) | Middle boreal zone, central Finland, Joensuu (62°39'N, 29°37'E) | Southern Finland (between 60° and 64° N) | | | |
| Simulation approach | Stand level | Landscape level | Regional level | | | |
| Tree species | Norway spruce | Norway spruce | Norway spruce, Scots pine, birch | | | |
| Forest site type | Medium fertile (MT) | Medium fertile (MT) | All site fertility types (CT, VT, MT, OMT) | | | |
| Initial data | Mature stand | Age structures (normal-, right-, left- skewed) | 10 th NFI | | | |
| Initial stand density (seedlings ha ⁻¹) | 2,500 | 2,000 | 2,000 (Norway spruce, Scots pine) 1,600 (birch) | | | |
| Pulpwood top diameter (cm) | 6.5 to <17 | 6.5 to <17 | 6.5 to <17 | | | |
| Sawlog top diameter (cm) | ≥17 | ≥17 | ≥17 | | | |
| LCA method | Consequential | Attributional | Attributional | | | |
| Management scenarios | | | | | | |
| Business-as-usual management (baseline) | Yes | Yes | Yes | | | |
| Unthinned (as a reference) | Yes | No | No | | | |
| Increase in stocking in thinning (%) | ± 10, 20, and 30 | ± 20 | ± 20 | | | |
| Nitrogen fertilization (kg N ha ⁻¹) | 150 kg in thinning years | No | No | | | |
| Timing of final felling (FF) | Fixed rotation | Fixed rotation length | FF done at DBH 26/22 cm | | | |
| Simulation time (years) | 60, 80, and 100 80 | | 40 (2016–2055) | | | |
| Harvest intensity | | | | | | |
| Harvest of timber (in | Т | Т | Т | | | |
| thinning and final felling) | T+BNR | | T+BN | | | |
| and energy biomass (in final felling) | | | T+BNR | | | |

2.4 Analysis of simulation outputs

The effects of alternative forest management and harvesting scenarios on forest biomass (pulpwood, sawlogs, and energy biomass) yield were calculated over the study period (Table 2; Papers I, III). The economic profitability of biomass production was quantified, based on the net present value (NPV, 3% interest rate) under alternative forest management scenarios, and in different sub-regions (Table 2; Papers I, III). Additionally, in Paper I, the sensitivity of the annual NPV to variable interest rates (2% and 4%) was analyzed (Table 2).

The climate impacts were analyzed at stand level (Paper I), landscape level (Paper II), and regional level (Paper III) under alternative forest management and/or harvesting scenarios (Tables 1, 2). The effects of forest management and/or harvesting scenarios on the NEE, and the substitution impacts of using biomass and carbon stock changes in wood products, were analyzed annually (Paper II), and over the study period or varying rotation periods (Papers I, III) (Table 2). In Paper II, the climate impact was calculated for the 80-year study period, and expressed as cumulative radiative forcing (CRF, nW m⁻²). It was also used to calculate the climate change mitigation efficiency (CCME, nW m⁻³) (Braun et al. 2016) of the biomass production and utilization (Table 2).

The sensitivity of climate impacts to the varying displacement factors used in substitution was analyzed by changing the default values (0.5, 1, and 2) of the displacement factors (tC tC⁻¹) for energy biomass and/or processing waste, pulp/paper products, and sawn wood, respectively (Papers II, III). In the analysis, the default displacement factors were doubled (to 1, 2, and 4) (Papers II, III), halved (0.25, 0.5, and 1) (Paper II), and lowered (0, 0.5, and 1) (Paper III) for the respective components of the biomass. The sensitivity of climate impacts to timber use efficiency was also analyzed by increasing/decreasing the default efficiency (i.e., 50% of wood products). High efficiency denoted a 70% use of wood products and low efficiency denoted a 30% use of wood products (Paper II).

| Parameter | Paper I | Paper II | Paper III |
|--|---|--|---|
| Sawlog yield | m ³ ha ⁻¹ a ⁻¹ | m ³ ha ⁻¹ a ⁻¹ | Mg ha ⁻¹ a ⁻¹ |
| Pulpwood yield | m ³ ha ⁻¹ a ⁻¹ | m ³ ha ⁻¹ a ⁻¹ | Mg ha ⁻¹ a ⁻¹ |
| Energy biomass yield | t ha ⁻¹ a ⁻¹ | - | Mg ha ⁻¹ a ⁻¹ |
| Processing waste | t CO2 ha-1 a-1 | g CO ₂ m ⁻² a ⁻¹ | Mg ha ⁻¹ a ⁻¹ |
| Net present value (NPV) | € ha ⁻¹ a ⁻¹ (2–4% interest rates) | - | € ha ⁻¹ (3% interest rate) |
| Net ecosystem CO ₂ exchange (NEE) | t CO2 ha-1 a-1 | g CO ₂ m ⁻² a ⁻¹ | Mg CO ₂ ha ⁻¹ a ⁻¹ |
| Climate impact (Cnet) | t CO ₂ ha ⁻¹ a ⁻¹ | g CO ₂ m ⁻² a ⁻¹ , g CO ₂ m ⁻² | Mg CO ₂ ha ⁻¹ a ⁻¹ |
| Substitution impacts | t CO2 ha ⁻¹ a ⁻¹ | g CO ₂ m ⁻² a ⁻¹ | Mg CO ₂ ha ⁻¹ a ⁻¹ |
| Annual stock change in wood products | t CO ₂ ha ⁻¹ a ⁻¹ | g CO ₂ m ⁻² a ⁻¹ | Mg CO ₂ ha ⁻¹ a ⁻¹ |
| Cumulative radiative forcing (CRF) | - | nW m ⁻² | - |
| Climate change mitigation efficiency (CCME) | - | nW m ⁻³ | - |

Table 2 Included parameters, with units, for calculations used in Papers I–III. t = ton (i.e., Megagram, Mg).

3 RESULTS

3.1 Effects of forest management on biomass yield and the economic profitability of forest production

In Paper I, maintaining 10–30% lower stocking, compared to the baseline (with timber harvest), increased mean annual pulpwood yields by up to 15% and decreased sawlog yields by up to 17% under 60–100-year rotations (30% lower stocking under 60-year rotation as an exception). Maintaining 10–30% higher stocking, compared to the baseline, increased mean annual sawlog yields and decreased pulpwood yields under 80–100-year rotations (60-year rotation as an exception). Nitrogen fertilization with lower stocking increased pulpwood yields by up to 14%, but it could not increase sawlog yields, in comparison with the baseline. Nitrogen fertilization alone, and simultaneously with higher stocking, increased the mean annual sawlog yield by up to 6%, compared to the baseline. The mean annual yield of energy biomass (logging residues, together with coarse roots and stumps) increased by up to 46% by maintaining higher stocking, compared to baseline (with energy biomass harvest), and applying nitrogen fertilization, and combining both under all rotations. In general, the highest mean annual yields of sawlogs resulted over 80–100-year rotations (Paper I).

At the regional level (Paper III), maintaining 20% lower stocking produced higher yields of sawlogs and pulpwood (by up to 80% and 48% higher, respectively), during the initial two decades of the 40-year (2016–2055) study period, compared to the baseline. In the last two decades, the yields of sawlogs and pulpwood decreased mostly in the final 10-year period (by up to 38% and 15% lower, respectively), compared to the baseline. Maintaining higher stocking also decreased sawlog yields in the last two decades, and increased pulpwood yields in the final 10-year period. Maintaining lower stocking resulted in higher energy biomass yields during the initial two decades, but produced lower yields during the last two decades. Maintaining higher stocking increased energy biomass yields during the last two decades of the study period (Paper III).

At the regional level (Paper III), mean annual total biomass (pulpwood, sawlogs, and energy biomass together) yields over the 40-year study period increased by up to 61% by maintaining lower stocking, compared to the baseline. The final felling made at a DBH of 22 cm resulted in higher total biomass yields than that of the final felling made at a DBH of 26 cm. Biomass yield was, on average, higher in the southern and eastern sub-regions than in the western one (Paper III).

In general, producing timber (pulpwood and sawlogs) together with energy biomass (logging residues, with coarse roots and stumps) provided higher mean annual economic profitability (NPV, interest rates 2–4%), compared to the baseline with only a timber harvest (30% higher stocking as an exception) (Paper I). The NPV (with a default interest rate of 3%), over 60-, 80-, and 100-year rotations, increased by up to 14, 12, and 11%, respectively, compared to the baseline (Paper I). The corresponding ranges of increasing NPV with 2% and 4% interest rates were 11–21%, 10–18%, and 8–18% for the rotations, respectively. On average, the highest NPV was gained by maintaining 10–30% lower stocking than the baseline and nitrogen fertilization simultaneously (Paper I); however, with a 2% interest rate, maintaining lower stocking associated with production of both timber and energy biomass together decreased NPV over a 100-year rotation (Paper I).

At the regional level (Paper III), producing timber together with energy biomass provided higher NPV (interest rate of 3%), compared to the baseline, over the 40-year study period (20%

higher stocking under final felling made at a DBH of 26 cm as an exception). Maintaining 20% lower stocking produced higher NPV, compared to the baseline, and up to 30% higher NPV resulted when final felling was made at a DBH of 22 cm. NPV was, on average, higher in the southern and eastern sub-regions than in the western one (Paper III).

3.2 Climate impacts of carbon sequestration and the substitution of fossil materials and energy

Maintaining lower stocking (Papers I–III), compared to the baseline, and final felling made at a DBH of 22 cm (Paper III) decreased both net carbon sequestration and climate impacts (Table 3). Maintaining higher stocking (Papers I–III) and using nitrogen fertilization (Paper I), which could enhance net carbon sequestration, also increased the climate impacts (lower absolute values), compared to the baseline (Table 3). At the landscape level, higher stocking also increased climate impacts in all of the initial age structures (Table 3), and the climate impacts were down to -33.5 nW m⁻² over the 80-year study period (Paper II). At the regional level (Paper III), climate impacts over the 40-year study period were the greatest under final felling made at a DBH of 26 cm (Table 3), and the contribution of the net carbon sequestration to total climate impact was between 7 and 25%, depending on the management scenario (Paper III).

The substitution impacts of using wood products (sawn wood and pulp/paper products), and processing waste (Papers I–III) and energy biomass (Papers I, III) generated climate benefits. The larger share of sawlogs in higher stocking, compared to that in the baseline, enhanced the climate benefits over the 80–100-year rotations (Paper I). Contrarily, a larger share of pulpwood than sawlogs in lower stocking produced the lowest substitution impacts, especially over the 60-year rotation (Paper I). An increased production of pulpwood and sawlogs also enhanced the cumulative climate impacts during the initial two decades of the 80-year study period in the initially left-skewed age structure at landscape level (Paper II). This was opposite to the right-skewed age structure, in which a high initial growth rate increased annual climate impacts in the initial half of the study period. The greatest cumulative climate impacts and the lowest emissions from the stock change of wood products (Paper II).

At the regional level (Paper III), the substitution impacts of using timber began from the start of the 40-year study period, and accumulated during the initial two decades, when higher amounts of sawlogs and pulpwood entered the technosystem, in the case of lower stocking under final felling made at a DBH of 22 cm, compared to the baseline. Additionally, a larger share of sawlogs than pulpwood in lower stocking generated higher substitution impacts, compared to the baseline over the study period. The substitution impacts were most enhanced when final felling was made at a DBH of 22 cm (Paper III). The contributions of the substitution impacts, and the increase of carbon stock in sawn wood and pulp/paper products to climate impacts, were 33–43%, 10–15%, and 7–15%, respectively, depending on the management over the study period. Both the substitution impacts and climate impacts were greater in the southern and eastern sub-regions, compared to the western one (Paper III).

The harvesting of timber, together with logging residues, coarse roots, and stumps, increased the climate impacts (Papers I, III), compared to harvesting only timber in the final fellings (Table 3). Energy biomass production with timber initially caused higher emissions, compared to the use of fossil counterparts; however, over the rotation, the use of energy biomass with timber production generated climate benefits against the fossil counterparts (Paper I).

The climate impacts were also affected by the reference management used in the fossil system (Paper I). The greatest climate benefits were found over 80–100-year rotations, when using the

baseline as a reference, as opposed to over a 60-year rotation using unthinned as a reference. When the fossil system was considered without the NEE of a forest stand, all the management scenarios and rotations (60–100 years) provided greater climate impacts, compared to the other two references (Paper I).

3.3 Sensitivity of climate impacts to displacement factors and timber use efficiency

In Paper II, the doubled displacement factors $(1, 2, and 4 \text{ tC tC}^{-1})$ produced 114% greater cooling climate impacts (negative CRF) when maintaining 20% higher stocking, compared to the baseline with default factors. Halved factors (0.25, 0.5, and 1 tC tC⁻¹) produced 64% lower cooling climate impacts when maintaining 20% lower stocking, compared to the baseline with default factors. Both these greatest and least cooling climate impacts were found under the initially left-skewed age structure over the 80-year study period. Similarly, with the high (70% of wood products) and low (30% of wood products) timber use efficiency, the cooling climate impacts when maintaining 20% higher or lower stocking were 59% higher and 61% lower, compared to the baseline with default timber use efficiency, respectively, under the same initial age structure (Table 3) (Paper II).

The highest and lowest CCMEs over the 80-year study period were found in higher stocking with doubled displacement factors, and lower stocking with halved factors, respectively (Paper II). However, the CCME of maintaining higher stocking was higher, compared to the substitution impacts, between years 2 and 46, depending on the initial age structures. In general, the magnitude of the CCME was greater in the initially right-skewed and normal age structures, compared to the left-skewed age structure, when using the default and halved factors. However, the greatest CCME over the whole study period was found in the initially left-skewed age structure when using higher stocking with doubled factors, which was 125% greater, compared to the baseline with default factors (Paper II). Similarly, the management scenarios with high and low timber use efficiency followed a trend similar to the case of the displacement factors, although with a smaller magnitude of CCME (Paper II).

In Paper III, the use of doubled (1, 2, and 4 tC tC⁻¹) displacement factors increased climate impacts up to 84%, and the use of lower factors (0, 0.5, and 1 tC tC⁻¹) decreased it up to 58% over a 40-year study period. Doubled displacement factors produced the greatest climate impacts when maintaining 20% higher stocking under final felling made at 22 cm, and harvesting timber together with logging residues, coarse roots, and stumps. Lowered factors produced the lowest climate impacts when maintaining 20% lower stocking under final felling made at 26 cm, and harvesting timber only. The relative contribution of the substitution impacts to the climate impacts shifted up to 60% and down to 22% when the default displacement factors, as a consequence, led to changes in the relative contributions of net carbon sequestration (NEE) and carbon stock of sawn wood and pulp/paper products to the total climate impacts (Paper III).

Table 3 Relative change (%) in climate impact under alternative management scenarios and harvest intensities, compared to the baseline with timber harvest in Papers I–III. + = positive, - = negative impact, \leftrightarrow = no change in climate impact, compared to that of the baseline. Relative increases (%) are denoted as follows: in Paper I, 1–100% = +, 101–200% = ++, and 201–300% = +++; in Paper II, 1–50% = +, 51–100% = ++, and 101–150% = +++; in Paper III, 1–4% = +, 5–8% = ++, and 9–12% = +++. The same ranges also corresponded to the relative decreases (%). T = only timber, T+BN = timber and logging residues, T+BNR = timber, logging residues, coarse roots, and stumps, DF = displacement factor, FF = final felling, DBH = tree diameter at breast height. *In Paper I, climate impact denotes net climate impact averaged over three rotations (60, 80, 100 years).

| Harvest intensity | | | | | % | changes co | mpar | ed to ba | seline (T) | | | | | |
|-------------------|---------------------|-----------------------|-------------------|-----------|--------------------|------------|--------------------|----------|-----------------------|--------|------------|--------------------|-------|----|
| Paper I | | | | | Mar | agements | cenari | os | | | | | | |
| | Higher stocking (%) | | | | | | Lower stocking (%) | | | | | | | |
| | | Without fertilization | | | With fertilization | | | | Without fertilization | | | With fertilization | | |
| | | 10 | 20 | 30 | 10 | 20 | 30 | | 10 | 20 | 30 | 10 | 20 | 30 |
| Т | | ++ | ++ | ++ | ++ | ++ | ++ | | - | - | - | - | - | - |
| T+BNR | | ++ | ++ | +++ | +++ | +++ | +++ | | + | - | - | + | + | + |
| Paper II | | | | | Mar | agements | cenari | OS | | | | | | |
| | | 20% hig | her stocking |) | | | | 20% lo | wer stocki | ng | | | | |
| | Initial age | Default | Doubled | Halved | High | Low | | Default | Doubled | Halved | High | Low | 1 | |
| | structure | values | DF | DF | efficiency | efficiency | | values | DF | DF | efficiency | effic | iency | |
| Т | Normal | + | ++ | - | ++ | - | | - | ++ | | + | | | - |
| | Right-skewed | + | ++ | - | + | - | | - | ++ | - | + | - | | |
| | Left-skewed | + | +++ | - | ++ | - | | - | +++ | | + | | | _ |
| Paper II | I | | Managemer | ntscenar | ios | | | | | | | | | _ |
| | | her stocking |) | 20% lowe | r stocking | | | | | | | | | |
| | | FF at DBH (cm) | | FF at DBH | l (cm) | _ | | | | | | | | |
| | Sub-regions | 26 | 22 | | 26 | 22 | | | | | | | | |
| Т | South | + | \leftrightarrow | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | West | + | \leftrightarrow | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | East | + | \leftrightarrow | | | | | | | | | | | |
| T+BN | South | + | \leftrightarrow | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | West | + | - | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | East | + | + | | | | | | | | | | | |
| T+BNR | South | + | + | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | West | + | + | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | East | + | + | | | | | | | | | | | |

4 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

4.1 Evaluation of the modelling approaches

This study aimed to investigate the climate impacts of carbon sequestration in forests, and the substitution of fossil energy (e.g., coal and oil) and fossil-based materials (e.g., concrete, steel, and plastic) with harvested biomass (energy biomass, pulpwood, and sawlogs) under Finnish boreal conditions, using varying forest management and harvesting scenarios. The implications of forest management and harvest intensity in the final felling were studied, in terms of how this would affect the climate impacts and economic profitability of biomass production. The study was undertaken at stand, landscape, and regional levels by integrating forest ecosystem model simulations (SIMA) and a LCA tool. The impacts of climate change on carbon sequestration in forests and consequent effects on mitigation were excluded from the analysis.

The LCA tool (Kilpeläinen et al. 2011) has previously been used to study the C_{net} of forest biomass production and utilization, inside and outside forest ecosystems (Routa et al. 2011a; Alam et al. 2012, 2013, 2017; Kilpeläinen et al. 2012, 2014, 2016b; Torssonen et al. 2016). In this work, the ALCA (Papers II, III) utilized all the flows of ecosystem and technosystem carbon in calculating C_{net} for management and harvesting scenarios. The CLCA (Paper I) was used to study both the direct and indirect impacts of biomass production and utilization on climate impacts, starting from a mature stand, with alternative reference managements in the fossil system. The tool enabled assessment of the climate impacts of forest biomass production and utilization in substituting for fossil-based materials and energy, for different time periods and initial conditions of forests. Radiative forcing (Paper II), calculated based on the C_{net} , provided a further assessment of the time dynamics of the climate impacts, based on the change in atmospheric CO₂ concentrations.

The performance of the SIMA model (Kellomäki et al. 2005, 2008) has been previously documented (Kellomäki et al. 2008; Routa et al. 2011a), and the simulated growth from that was in agreement with the measured volume growth, based on NFI data of permanent sample plots in Finland. The simulated growth data of the SIMA model showed a good correlation with that of the empirical growth and yield model, Motti, in the case of volume growth in Norway spruce and Scots pine (Routa et al. 2011a). Moreover, simulated data regarding the response in growth of Norway spruce to nitrogen fertilization is in good agreement with the measured data derived from long-term experiments (Mäkipää et al. 1998).

4.2 Effects of forest management on biomass yield, and the economic profitability of forest production

At the stand and regional levels, changes in thinning intensity (higher/lower stocking in thinning) (Papers I, III), nitrogen fertilization (Paper I), earlier final felling (Paper III), and intensified harvest in final felling (Papers I, III) could increase the mean annual biomass yield, compared to the baseline, but the effects of management on the yield of biomass components (e.g., pulpwood and sawlogs) varied among the management scenarios. For example, maintaining lower stocking, compared to baseline, resulted in higher annual pulpwood yields, but the annual yield of sawlogs was the highest when higher stocking, compared to baseline, was maintained in combination with nitrogen fertilization and using long rotations (80–100 years) (Paper I).

Maintaining lower stockings and intensifying biomass harvesting were able to increase economic profitability (NPV), compared to the baseline, due to earlier income from thinning, and additional income from energy biomass (Paper I), as also shown by previous studies (Routa et al. 2011b, 2012; Zubizarreta Gerendiain et al. 2016). In absolute terms, the NPV (default interest rate 3%) increased by up to $5 \in ha^{-1} a^{-1}$ with lower stocking, compared to the baseline (Paper 1). This was also the case at the regional level (Paper III), but the values were about three times higher than those obtained at the stand level, especially when 20% lower stocking was used. This was mainly because of using a short study period (i.e., 40 years) in the regional analysis. Other reasons may include tree species and site fertility, which differed between stand- and regional-level studies, and affected the NPV considerably (Routa et al. 2011b; Hedwall et al. 2014). Although higher stocking delayed harvest and income, it was found that maintaining up to 20% higher stocking with an intensified biomass harvest could increase NPV by up to $3 \in ha^{-1} a^{-1}$, compared to the baseline (Paper I), mainly due to the additional income generated from increased yields of sawlogs. Also, at the regional level, maintaining 20% higher stocking increased NPV, compared to the baseline, when earlier final felling was performed, but later final felling

decreased NPV, owing to lower incomes from decreased and delayed timber yields, compared to the baseline (Paper III).

The use of a higher interest rate (e.g., 4%) tended to favor shorter rotation over long rotation, because the higher interest rate has a smaller effect on future costs and income, thus it decreases the present value of the forests (e.g., Brukas et al. 2001; Grege-Staltmane and Tuherm 2010; Repo et al. 2015b). In this study, using 2–4% interest rates, the annual NPV was found to be generally higher when using short rotations (60 years) compared to long rotations of 80–100 years (Paper I). This was due to earlier income from the timber and energy biomass (Routa et al. 2012). In the case of long rotations, the income from increased yields of sawlogs, due to fertilization, could not be compensated for by the costs associated with fertilization (up to four applications) under an increased rate of interest (e.g., 3–4%). This was contrary to the case of the short rotations with a high interest rate, in which the costs for fertilization (up to two applications) decreased and the NPV from timber increased over the studied period (Paper I).

4.3 Climate impacts of biomass production and utilization

The climate impacts of biomass production and utilization were decreased by maintaining lower stocking in forests (Papers I–III), and making final fellings earlier (Paper III), compared to the baseline (Table 3). This was caused by decreased net carbon sequestration and increased decay of logging residues from earlier thinnings and final fellings (Kallio et al. 2013; Mika and Keeton 2015; Noormets et al. 2015). Maintaining higher stocking, on the other hand, increased net carbon sequestration in forests and enabled the logging residues to decay later, due to delayed thinnings, eventually increasing the climate impacts, compared to the baseline (Table 3) (Papers I–III). Nitrogen fertilization with higher stocking increased the climate impacts further (Paper I), but using up to 20% higher stocking and an earlier final felling may be the best option to increase both the climate impacts and economic returns, compared to the baseline (Papers I, III). Previously, it has been suggested that cost-effective climate benefits of forest biomass could be generated by increasing the growing stock of forests (Richards and Stokes 2004; Eriksson 2015; Vass and Elofsson 2016).

Generally, young forest landscapes have the potential to increase the climate benefits of the biosystem, when harvested wood products and energy biomass are used for substitution of fossilbased materials and fuel (e.g., Hennigar et al. 2008; Gustavsson and Sathre 2011). In the initially right-skewed (mostly young) and normal (mostly middle-aged) forest age structures, it was found that using higher stocking increased the net carbon sequestration and climate impact most, i.e., by up to 8 and 11%, respectively, compared to the baseline (Paper II). A regional study (Paper III) revealed a similar trend. For example, forests in the southern and eastern sub-regions in Finland, consisting mainly of younger stands (Ylitalo 2014), increased climate impacts by up to 34%, compared to that in western sub-regions.

The substitution impacts were generally higher when using 80–100-year rotations, compared to a 60-year rotation, due to the increased production of sawn wood (Paper I). A previous study has also found the greatest climate impacts of forest biomass over long rotations (ca. 100 years) in Norway spruce forest, with increased sawlog production for fossil-based material substitution (Pingoud et al. 2010). At the landscape level (Paper II), both the substitution impacts and the lowest emissions from wood product stocks produced the greatest climate impacts in the last half of the 80-year study period for a right-skewed age structure. Conversely, in an initially left-skewed age structure, the substitution impacts and increased stocks of wood products compensated for the impacts of decreasing net carbon sequestration, and caused the greatest cumulative climate impacts in the initial two decades of the study period (Paper II). This was also

the case during the initial two decades of the 40-year study period in a regional-level analysis, when the stock of wood products increased and the substitution impacts accumulated forward from the increased amount of timber (Paper III). At the regional level, the substitution impacts increased by up to 29% over the study period, when maintaining lower stocking with earlier final felling, compared to the baseline. In this case, the contribution of a carbon stock of sawn wood to the climate impacts was higher than for pulp/paper products, regardless of the timing of final felling (Paper III). Sawn wood products retained carbon out of the atmosphere for longer than pulp/paper products (Bowyer et al. 2010; Pingoud et al. 2010; Bergman et al. 2014), and the substitution impacts of wood products, along with increased carbon stocks, enhanced the climate impacts further, which is in line with previous studies (Jasinevičius et al. 2015; Nepal et al. 2016; Gustavsson et al. 2017; Xu et al. 2017).

When logging residues, coarse roots, and stumps as energy biomass, together with timber, were harvested in final fellings, the climate impacts increased the most, compared to the harvesting of only timber (Table 3) (Papers I, III). This was because the intensified harvest of logging residues and roots decreased CO₂ emissions, due to the avoidance of their onsite decay and their use in offsetting fossil fuels, which has been found to increase their climate impact in the long term, instead of them being left in the forest (e.g., Sathre and Gustavsson 2011, 2012; Repo et al. 2012, 2015a; Gustavsson et al. 2015). Using energy biomass initially produced higher emissions compared to that of fossil fuels, however, in the long term, climate benefits were gained due to carbon sequestration and the use of wood products (Paper I). Maintaining 20% lower stocking in thinning is an exception (Paper I), since it decreased carbon sequestration in forests, due to increase thinnings, that could not produce the climate benefits of substitution in the long term.

Using high displacement factors and high timber use efficiency increased cooling climate impacts under higher stocking in all of the initial age structures of forests (Table 3) (Paper II). In addition, the effects of forest management on climate impacts were small, compared to those of the displacement factors. The CCME per cubic meter of forest biomass was higher for about 2–46 years when maintaining higher stocking in forests, after which, maintaining lower stocking with high displacement factors, or timber use efficiency, increased the CCME, depending on the initial age structure of the forests (Paper II). This was because the use of high displacement factors, or timber use efficiency for about soft age stocking, but they lowered the climate benefits of carbon sequestration by using higher stocking. Use of high displacement factors also favored earlier final fellings and the use of energy biomass in substitution (Paper III). Therefore, in assessing the climate impacts of forest-based biosystems in the long term, the short-term development of sinks, integrated with substitution impacts and stocks of wood products, should be considered (Eriksson et al. 2007; Lippke et al. 2011; Alam et al. 2017; Smyth et al. 2017a, 2017b).

The magnitude of the default values for the displacement factors used in this study was in line with those of previous studies (e.g., Sathre and O'Connor 2010; Knauf et al. 2015; Geng et al. 2017), but the development of wood-based products, and their uses in substituting for fossil-based materials in the textile, furniture, and construction sectors, may affect the magnitude of the displacement factors currently used (Werner et al. 2015; Rüter et al. 2016; Suter et al. 2017). For example, the use of wood-fibre-based viscose as a substitute for oil-derived fibers in textiles is expected to increase the factors up to 2.2 tC tC⁻¹ (Rüter et al. 2016). In the case of sawn wood as a substitute for concrete and aluminium, the factors have been found to be 2.74 and 5.1 tC tC⁻¹, respectively (Cintas et al. 2016; Suter et al. 2017). On the other hand, the development of fossil systems, and the use of different functional units, will affect the displacement factors of wood products (Sathre and O'Connor 2010; Ter-Mikaelian et al. 2015a; Smyth et al. 2017a). In addition, the assumption that all wood products substitute fossil-based materials, which may not be the case all the time, may exaggerate the substitution impacts (Soimakallio et al. 2016). In this

work, the same displacement factors were used across the scenarios to study the effects of management and harvest intensity on climate impacts of biomass production and utilization. Therefore, the use of different displacement factors affected only the level of climate impacts and did not change the conclusion on the preference of forest management.

The climate impacts of forest biomass production and utilization were also dependent on the reference forest management used in the fossil system (Paper I). When the fossil system was considered only with the emission factors for fossil materials and fuels, the biosystem generated the greatest climate benefits, and over long rotations. When unthinned was selected as a reference, climate benefits for the biosystem were, in general, lower than in the case of the baseline as a reference, and the greatest climate benefits were gained for the 60-year rotation. When the baseline management was used as a reference, long rotations (80–100 years) generated the greatest climate impacts (Paper I). Variations in climate benefits in the biosystem, in comparison to the fossil system, could be explained by the fact that an increased number of thinnings (up to four) over long rotations resulted in a higher loss of carbon stocks in the forests than in the short rotations (60 years), where the number of thinnings was up to two. In addition, higher mortality occurred in the unthinned stand over longer time periods, which benefitted the biosystem in the net climate impact calculation. In the long term, unthinned stands may be vulnerable to abiotic and biotic risks, and natural mortality (Blennow et al. 2010; Lundmark et al. 2014), which also affects the climate impacts.

In Finland, the total emissions, excluding the LULUCF sector, in 2015 were about 56 million Mg CO₂ eqv (Official Statistics of Finland 2017). Conversely, the LULUCF sector acted as a carbon sink (26 million Mg CO_2 eqv), albeit harvested wood products were excluded. According to Paper III, by including harvested wood products, forests in southern Finland would have the potential to achieve climate impacts (5.1-5.8 Mg CO₂ ha⁻¹ a⁻¹, i.e., 45-51 million Mg CO₂ a⁻¹ scaling up to the total study area), on average, over the next 40 years, by maintaining higher stocking in thinnings and intensifying the biomass harvest in final fellings. Maintaining higher stocking produced the greatest climate change mitigation impact per harvested timber (1.0, 1.1, and 0.9 Mg CO_2 m⁻³) in the normal (mostly middle-aged), right-skewed (mostly young), and leftskewed (mostly mature) forest structures, respectively (Paper II) (data not shown in Figures). This is somewhat higher than values documented in other studies $(0.47-0.72 \text{ Mg CO}_2 \text{ m}^3, \text{Werner})$ et al. 2010; Lundmark et al. 2014; Braun et al. 2016), in which the harvesting of logging residues and/or stumps was included, although this was not included in Paper II. The results of the climate impacts in Paper III are also comparable to the ranges of 2.3 to 8.1 Mg CO_2 ha⁻¹ a⁻¹, depending on management, in the national-level studies of Sweden and Switzerland (Werner et al. 2010; Lundmark et al. 2014).

4.4 Conclusions

This study found that the greatest climate impacts of forest biomass production and utilization under Finnish boreal conditions were gained by maintaining up to 20% higher stocking in thinnings, and using nitrogen fertilization and 80–100-year rotations. These measures increased carbon sequestration, along with timber (especially production of sawlogs) and energy biomass yields, that could be used in substituting for fossil-based materials and energy. There was a tradeoff between management scenarios, however, between the greatest climate impacts and the economic profitability of biomass production. The greatest climate impacts were found when intensified biomass harvesting in final felling (timber, together with logging residues, coarse roots, and stumps) was performed, and the prominent regions for increasing climate impacts over the next 40-year period were the southern and eastern sub-regions of Finland. It was also found that the effects of substitution and timber use efficiency on climate impacts were higher than

those of thinning regimes. Furthermore, the climate impacts were also found to be sensitive to the initial conditions set for the analyses, which affected the timing of the climate impacts, and the preference for forest management in climate change mitigation. This indicates that management measures, together with the initial conditions of forests, should be considered when evaluating efficient options for increasing climate impacts in forests, and in substituting fossil-based materials and energy with forest biomass.

REFERENCES

- Äijälä O., Koistinen A., Sved J., Vanhatalo K., Vaisanen P. (edit) (2014). Recommendations for Forest Management in Finland. (in Finnish: Hyvän metsänhoidon suositukset – metsänhoito), Forestry Development Centre Tapio, Helsinki, Finland. (In Finnish).
- Alam A., Kellomäki S., Kilpeläinen A., Strandman H. (2013). Effects of stump extraction on the carbon sequestration in Norway spruce forest ecosystems under varying thinning regimes with implications for fossil fuel substitution. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 5: 445–458. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12010
- Alam A., Kilpeläinen A., Kellomäki S. (2012). Impacts of initial stand density and thinning regimes on energy wood production and management-related CO₂ emissions in boreal ecosystems. European Journal of Forest Research 131: 655–667. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10342-011-0539-8
- Alam A., Kilpeläinen A., Kellomäki S. (2008). Impacts of thinning on growth, timber production and carbon stocks in Finland under changing climate. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 23: 501–512. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02827580802545564
- Alam A., Kilpeläinen A., Kellomäki S. (2010). Potential energy wood production with implications to timber recovery and carbon stocks under varying thinning and climate scenarios in Finland. Bioenergy Research 3: 362–372. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12155-010-9095-1
- Alam A., Strandman H., Kellomäki S., Kilpeläinen A. (2017). Estimating net climate impacts of timber production and utilization in fossil fuel intensive material and energy substitution. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 47: 1010–1020. http://dx.doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2016-0525
- Bergh J., Nilsson U., Alle, H.L., Johansson U., Fahlvik N. (2014). Long-term responses of Scots pine and Norway spruce stands in Sweden to repeated fertilization and thinning. Forest Ecology and Management 320: 118–128. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2014.02.016
- Bergman R., Puettmann M., Taylor A., Skog K.E. (2014). The carbon impacts of wood products. Forest Product Journal 64: 220–231. https://doi.org/10.13073/FPJ-D-14-00047

- Blennow K., Andersson M., Bergh J., Sallnäs O., Olofsson E. (2010). Potential climate change impacts on the probability of wind damage in a south Swedish forest, Climate Change 99: 261–278. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10584-009-9698-8
- Bowyer J., Bratkovich S., Howe J., Fernholz K. (2010). Recognition of carbon storage in harvested wood products: A Post-Copenhagen Update; Dovetail Partners, Inc.: Minneapolis, MN, USA, 2010. www.dovetailinc.org. [Cited 5 July 2017].
- Braun M., Fritz D., Weiss P., Braschel N., Büchsenmeister R., Freudenschuß A., Gschwantner T., Jandl R., Ledermann T., Neumann M., Pölz W., Schadauer K., Schmid C., Schwarzbauer P., Stern T. (2016). A holistic assessment of greenhouse gas dynamics from forests to the effects of wood products use in Austria. Carbon Management 7(5–6): 271–283. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17583004.2016.1230990
- Brukas V., Thorsen B.J., Helles F., Tarp P. (2001). Discount rate and harvest policy: Implications for the Baltic forestry. Forest Policy and Economics 2: 143–156. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1389-9341(01)00050-8
- Buchholz T., Hurteau M.D., Gunn J., Saah D. (2016). A global meta-analysis of forest bioenergy greenhouse gas emission accounting studies. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 8: 281– 289. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12245
- Buchholz T., Prisley S., Marland G., Canham C., Sampson N. (2014). Uncertainty in projecting greenhouse gas emissions from bioenergy. Nature Climate Change 4: 1045–1047. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2418
- Canadell J.G., Raupach M.R. (2008). Managing forests for climate change mitigation. Science 320: 1456–1457. http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1155458
- Cherubini F., Peters G.P., Berntsen T., Strømman A.H., Hertwich E. (2011). CO₂ emissions from biomass combustion for bioenergy: atmospheric decay and contribution to global warming. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 3: 413–426. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1757-1707.2011.01102.x
- Cherubini F., Guest G., Strømman A.H. (2013). Bioenergy from forestry and changes in atmospheric CO₂: Reconciling single stand and landscape level approaches. Journal of Environmental Management 129: 292–301. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2013.07.021
- Cintas O., Berndes G., Cowie A.L., Egnell G., Holmström H., Ågren G.I. (2016). The climate effect of increased forest bioenergy use in Sweden: evaluation at different spatial and temporal scales. WIREs Energy and Environment 5: 351–369. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/wene.178
- EC (2011a). Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. Energy Roadmap 2050. Brussels. 20 p.

- EC (2011b). The role of wood in tackling climate change. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/ecoap/about-eco-innovation/policiesmatters/eu/426_en.htm. [Cited 9 July 2017].
- EC (2016). Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources. Brussels. 115 p.
- Eliasson P., Svensson M., Olsson M., Ågren G.I. (2013). Forest carbon balances at the landscape scale investigated with the Q model and the CoupModel Responses to intensified harvests. Forest Ecology and Management 290: 67–78. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2012.09.007
- Eriksson E., Gillespie A.R., Gustavsson L., Langvall O., Olsson M., Sathre R., Stendahl J. (2007). Integrated carbon analysis of forest management practices and wood substitution. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 37: 671–681. https://dx.doi.org/10.1139/X06-257
- Eriksson M. (2015). The role of the forest in an integrated assessment model of the climate and the economy. Climate Change Economics 6(3): 82–105. https://dx.doi.org/10.1142/S2010007815500116
- EU (2015). Directive (EU) 2015/1513 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 9 September 2015 amending Directive 98/70/EC relating to the quality of petrol and diesel fuels and amending Directive 2009/28/EC on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources (Text with EEA relevance). Official Journal of the European Union, 29 p.
- Garcia-Gonzalo J., Peltola H., Briceno-Elizondo E., Kellomäki S. (2007a). Changed thinning regimes may increase carbon stock under climate change: a case study from a Finnish boreal forest. Climate Change 81: 431–454. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10584-006-9149-8
- Garcia-Gonzalo J., Peltola H., Zubizarreta Gerendiain A., Kellomäki S. (2007b). Impacts of forest landscape structure and management on timber production and carbon stocks in the boreal forest ecosystem under changing climate. Forest Ecology and Management 241: 243–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2007.01.008
- Geng A., Yanga H., Chen J., Hong Y. (2017). Review of carbon storage function of harvested wood products and the potential of wood substitution in greenhouse gas mitigation. Forest Policy and Economics http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2017.08.007
- Grege-Staltmane F., Tuherm H. (2010). Importance of discount rate in Latvian forest valuation. Baltic Forestry 16(2): 303–311. https://www.balticforestry.mi.lt/bf/PDF_Articles/2010-16[2]/Staltmane_etal_2010%2016(2)_303_311.pdf.
- Gustavsson L., Haus S., Ortiz C.A., Sathre R., Truong N.L. (2015). Climate effects of bioenergy from forest residues in comparison to fossil energy. Applied Energy 138: 36–50. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2014.10.013

- Gustavsson L., Tullin C. (2014). Heat. In: Pelkonen P., Mustonen M., Asikainen A., Egnell G., Kant P., Leduc S., Pettenella D. (eds.), Forest bioenergy for Europe. What Science Can Tell Us, European Forest Institute. p. 42–46.
- Gustavsson L., Haus S., Lundblad M., Lundström A., Ortiz C.A., Sathre R., Le Truong N., Wikberg P.E. (2017). Climate change effects of forestry and substitution of carbon-intensive materials and fossil fuels. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 67: 612–624. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2016.09.056
- Gustavsson L., Pingoud K., Sathre R. (2006). Carbon dioxide balance of wood substitution: comparing concrete- and wood-framed buildings. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change 11: 667–691. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11027-006-7207-1
- Gustavsson L., Sathre R. (2011). Energy and CO₂ analysis of wood substitution in construction. Climatic Change 105: 129–153. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10584-010-9876-8
- Haus S., Gustavsson L., Sathre R. (2014). Climate mitigation comparison of woody biomass systems with the inclusion of land-use in the reference fossil system. Biomass and Bioenergy 65: 136–144. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2014.04.012
- Hedwall P-O., Gong P.M., Ingerslev M., Bergh J. (2014). Fertilization in northern forests biological, economic and environmental constraints and possibilities. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 29(4): 301–311. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2014.926096
- Heinonen T., Pukkala T., Mehtätalo L., Asikainen, A., Kangas J., Peltola H. (2017). Scenario analyses for the effects of harvesting intensity on development of forest resources, timber supply, carbon balance and biodiversity of Finnish forestry. Forest Policy and Economics 80: 80–98.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2017.03.011

- Helin T., Salminen H., Hynynen J., Soimakallio S., Huuskonen S., Pingoud K. (2016). Global warming potentials of stemwood used for energy and materials in Southern Finland: differentiation of impacts based on type of harvest and product lifetime. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 8: 334–345. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12244
- Helin T., Sokka L., Soimakallio S., Pingoud K., Pajula T. (2013). Approaches for inclusion of forest carbon cycle in life cycle assessment - a review. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 5: 475–486. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12016
- Hennigar C.R., Maclean D.A., Amos-Binks L.J. (2008). A novel approach to optimize management strategies for carbon stored in both forests and wood products. Forest Ecology and Management 256: 786–797. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2008.05.037

- Hynynen J., Salminen H., Ahtikoski A., Huuskonen S., Ojansuu R., Siipilehto J., Lehtonen K., Eerikäinen K. (2015). Long-term impacts of forest management on biomass supply and forest resource development: a scenario analysis for Finland. European Journal of Forest Research 134: 415–431. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10342-014-0860-0
- IEA (2016). Nordic energy technology perspectives 2016: Cities, flexibility and pathways to carbon-neutrality. OECD/IEA, Paris, France. 269 p.
- IPCC (2014a). Climate Change 2014 Synthesis Report Summary for Policymakers. http://www.ipcc.ch/. [Cited 9 July 2017].
- IPCC (2014b). Climate change 2014: Mitigation of climate change. Contribution of working group III to the fifth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. http://www.ipcc.ch/. [Cited 9 July 2017].
- Jasinevičius G., Lindner M., Pingoud K., Tykkylainen M. (2015). Review of models for carbon accounting in harvested wood products. International Wood Products Journal 6: 198–212. https://dx.doi.org/10.1080/20426445.2015.1104078
- Kallio A.M.I., Salminen O., Sievänen R. (2013). Sequester or substitute Consequences of increased production of wood based energy on the carbon balance in Finland. Journal of Forest Economics 19: 402–415. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jfe.2013.05.001
- Karjalainen T., Kellomäki S., Pussinen A. (1994). Role of wood-based products in absorbing atmospheric carbon. Silva Fennica 28: 67–80. http://dx.doi.org/10.14214/sf.a9163
- Kellomäki S., Strandman H., Nuutinen T., Peltola H., Korhonen K.T., Väisänen H. (2005). Adaptation of forest ecosystems, forest and forestry to climate change. FINADAPT. Working Paper 4. Finnish Environment Institute Mimeographs 334, Helsinki.
- Kellomäki S., Peltola H., Nuutinen T., Korhonen K.T., Strandman H. (2008). Sensitivity of managed boreal forests in Finland to climate change, with implications for adaptive management. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B363: 2341–2351. http://dx.doi.org/:10.1098/rstb.2007.2204
- Kilpeläinen A., Alam A., Strandman H., Kellomäki S. (2011). Life cycle assessment tool for estimating net CO₂ exchange of forest production. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 3(6): 461–471. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1757-1707.2011.01101.x
- Kilpeläinen A., Alam A., Torssonen P., Ruusuvuori H., Kellomäki S., Peoltola H. (2016b). Effects of intensive forest management on net climate impact of energy biomass utilisation from final felling of Norway spruce. Biomass and Bioenergy 87: 1–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2016.02.011

- Kilpeläinen A., Kellomäki S., Strandman H. (2012). Net atmospheric impacts of forest bioenergy production and utilization in Finnish boreal conditions. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 4: 811–817. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1757.1707.2012.01161.x
 - http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1757-1707.2012.01161.x
- Kilpeläinen A., Strandman H., Grönholm T., Ikonen V-P., Torssonen P., Kellomäki S., Peltola H. (2017). Effects of initial age structure of managed Norway Spruce forest area on net climate impact of using forest biomass for energy. Bioenergy Research 10: 499–508. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12155-017-9821-z
- Kilpeläinen A., Strandman H., Kellomäki S., Seppälä J. (2014). Assessing the net atmospheric impacts of wood production and utilization. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change 19: 955–968. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11027-013-9454-2
- Kilpeläinen A., Torssonen P., Strandman H., Kellomäki S., Asikainen A., Peltola H. (2016a). Net climate impacts of forest biomass production and utilization in managed boreal forests. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 8: 307–316. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12243
- Klein D., Wolf C., Schulz C., Weber-Blaschke G. (2015). 20 years of life cycle assessment (LCA) in the forestry sector: state of the art and a methodical proposal for the LCA of forest production. International Life Cycle Assessment 20: 556–575. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11367-015-0847-1
- Knauf M., Köhl M., Mues V., Olschofsky K., Frühwald A. (2015). Modeling the CO₂-effects of forest management and wood usage on a regional basis. Carbon Balance and Management 10(13). http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s13021-015-0024-7
- Koponen K., Sokka L., Salminen O., Sievänen R., Pingoud K., Ilvesniemi H., Routa J., Ikonen T., Koljonen T., Alakangas E., Asikainen A., Sipilä K. (2015). Sustainability of forest energy in Northern Europe. VTT Technology 237, VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland Ltd. 100 p.
- Kurz W.A., Smyth C., Lemprière T. (2016). Climate change mitigation through forest sector activities: principles, potential and priorities. Unasylva 67. https://search.proquest.com/docview/1872208482/fulltextPDF/CE4D7105F2A44820PQ/1 ?accountid=11739.
- Lemprière T.C., Kurz W.A., Hogg E.H., Schmoll C., Rampley G.J., Yemshanov D., McKenney D.W., Gilsenan R., Beatch A., Blain D. et al. (2013). Canadian boreal forests and climate change mitigation. Environmental Reviews 21: 293–321. http://dx.doi.org/10.1139/er-2013-0039
- Lippke B., Oneil E., Harrison R., Skog K., Gustavsson L., Sathre R. (2011). Life cycle impacts of forest management and wood utilization on carbon mitigation: knowns and unknowns. Carbon Management 2: 303–333. http://dx.doi.org/10.4155/cmt.11.24

- Lundmark T., Bergh J., Hofer P., Lundström A., Nordin A., Poudel B., Sathre R., Taverna R., Werner F. (2014). Potential roles of Swedish forestry in the context of climate change mitigation. Forests 5: 557–578. http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/f5040557
- Malmsheimer R.W., Bowyer J.L., Fried J.S., Gee E., Izlar R.L., Miner R.A., Munn I.A., Oneil E., Stewart W.C. (2011). Managing forests because carbon matters: integrating energy, products, and land management policy. Journal of Forestry 109: S7–S50. http://www.twosidesna.org/download/Malmsheimer_R-W_et_al_-___Managing_Forests_because_Carbon_Matters_Integrating_Energy_Products_and_Land_Management_Policy_2011.pdf.
- Matala J., Kärkkäinen L., Härkönen K., Kellomäki S., Nuutinen T. (2009). Carbon sequestration in the growing stock of trees in Finland under different cutting and climate scenarios. European Journal of Forest Research 128: 493–504. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10342-009-0299-x
- McKechnie J., Colombo S., Chen J., Mabee W., Machlean H.L. (2011). Forest bioenergy or forest Carbon? Assessing trade - offs in greenhouse gas mitigation with wood-based fuels. Environmental Science & Technology 45: 789–795. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es1024004
- Mika A.M., Keeton W.S. (2015). Net carbon fluxes at stand and landscape scales from wood bioenergy harvests in the US Northeast. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 7: 438–454. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12143
- Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment (2014). The Finnish Bioeconomy Strategy; Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment: Helsinki, Finland. 31 p. http://www.tem.fi/files/40366/The_Finnish_Bioeconomy_Strategy.pdf. [Cited 9 December 2017].
- Ministry of Employment and the Economy (2014). Energy and Climate Roadmap 2050- Report of the Parliamentary Committee on Energy and Climate Issues on 16 October 2014. Energy and the climate 50/2014, Finland. ISBN 978-952-227-906-4. 75 p. https://tem.fi/documents/1410877/3437254/Energy+and+Climate+Roadmap+2050+14112 014.pdf. [Cited 27 December 2017].
- Ministry of the Environment (2015). Climate Change Legislation. http://www.ym.fi/en-US/The_environment/Legislation_and_instructions/Climate_change_legislation. [Cited 28 December 2017].
- Mitchell S.R., Harmon M.E., O'Connell K.E.B. (2012). Carbon debt and carbon sequestration parity in forest bioenergy production. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 4: 818–827. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1757-1707.2012.01173.x
- Mäkipää R., Karjalainen T., Pussinen A., Kukkola M., Kellomäki S., Mälkönen E. (1998). Applicability of a forest simulation model for estimating effect of nitrogen deposition on a forest ecosystem: Test of the validity of a gap-type model. Forest Ecology and Management 108: 239–250. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(98)00237-0

- Mäkipää R., Linkosalo T., Komarov A., Mäkelä A. (2015). Mitigation of climate change with biomass harvesting in Norway spruce stands: are harvesting practices carbon neutral? Canadian Journal of Forest Research 45: 217–225. http://dx.doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2014-0120
- Natural Resources Institute (2017a). Total wood consumption. Finland. http://stat.luke.fi/en/tilasto/4608. [Cited 28 December 2017].
- Natural Resources Institute (2017b). Total roundwood removals and drain. Finland. http://stat.luke.fi/en/roundwood-removals-and-drain. [Cited 28 December 2017].
- Nepal P., Skog K.E., McKeever D.B., Bergman R.D., Abt K.L., Abt R.C. (2016). Carbon mitigation impacts of increased softwood lumber and structural panel use for nonresidential construction in the United States. Forest Product Journal 66 (1): 77–87. http://dx.doi.org/10.13073/FPJ-D-15-00019
- Noormets A., Epron D., Domec J.C., McNulty S.G., Fox T., Sun G., King J.S. (2015). Effects of forest management on productivity and carbon sequestration: A review and hypothesis. Forest Ecology and Management 355: 124–140. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2015.05.019
- Nunery J.S., Keeton W.S. (2010). Forest carbon storage in the northeastern United States: Net effects of harvesting frequency, post-harvest retention, and wood products. Forest Ecology and Management 259: 1363–1375. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2009.12.029
- Official Statistics of Finland (OSF) (2017). Greenhouse gases [e-publication]. ISSN=1797-6065. 2016. Helsinki: Statistics Finland. http://www.stat.fi/til/khki/2016/khki_2016_2017-05-24_tie_001_en.html. [Cited 10 December 2017].
- Pilli R., Grassi G., Kurz W.A., Fiorese G., Cescatti A. (2017). The European forest sector: Past and future carbon budget and fluxes under different management scenarios. Biogeosciences 14: 2387–2405. http://dx.doi.org/10.5194/bg-14-2387-2017
- Pingoud K., Pohjola J., Valsta L. (2010). Assessing the integrated climatic impacts of forestry and wood products. Silva Fennica 44(1): 155–175. https://dx.doi.org/10.14214/sf.166
- Plevin R.J., Delucchi M.A., Creutzig F. (2013). Using attributional life cycle assessment to estimate climate-change mitigation benefits misleads policy makers. Journal of Industrial Ecology 18(1): 73–83. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12074
- Portin A., Barua S., Clarke M., Camargo M., Viding J., Pekkanen M. (2013). The role of forests in climate change: Nordic Experience, TemaNord, vol. 559, Nordic Council of Ministers. 119 p. http://dx.doi.org/10.6027/TN2013-559

- Pyörälä P., Kellomäki S., Peltola H. (2012). Effects of management on biomass production in in Norway spruce stands and carbon balance of bioenergy use. Forest Ecology and Management 275: 87–97. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2012.02.037
- Pyörälä P., Peltola H., Strandman H., Kilpeläinen A., Asikainen A., Jylhä K., Kellomäki S. (2014). Effects of management on economic profitability of forest biomass production and carbon neutrality of bioenergy use in Norway spruce stands under the changing climate. Bioenergy Research 7: 279–294. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12155-013-9372-x
- Ramaswamy W., Boucher O., Haigh J. et al. (2001). Radiative forcing of climate change. In: Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (eds Houghton JT, et al.), p. 349–416. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA.
- Repo A., Känäanen R., Tuovinen J-P., Antikainen R., Tuomi M., Vanhala P., Liski J. (2012). Forest bioenergy climate impact can be improved by allocating forest residue removal. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 4: 202–212. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1757-1707.2011.01124.x
- Repo A., Tuovinen J-P., Liski J. (2015a). Can we produce carbon and climate neutral forest bioenergy? Global Change Biology Bioenergy 7: 253–262. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12134
- Repo A., Ahtikoski A., Liski J. (2015b). Cost of turning forest residue bioenergy to carbon neutral. Forest Policy and Economics 57: 12–21. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2015.04.005
- Richards K.R., Stokes C. (2004). A review of forest carbon sequestration cost studies: a dozen years of research. Climatic change 63(1-2): 1–48. http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/B:CLIM.0000018503.10080.89
- Routa J., Kellomäki S., Kilpeläinen A., Peltola H., Strandman H. (2011a). Effects of forest management on the carbon dioxide emissions of wood energy in integrated production of timber and energy biomass. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 3: 483–497. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1757-1707.2011.01106.x
- Routa J., Kellomäki S., Peltola H. (2012). Impacts of intensive management and landscape structure on timber and energy wood production and net CO₂ emissions from energy wood use of Norway spruce. Bioenergy Research 5: 106–123. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12155-011-9115-9
- Routa J., Kellomäki S., Peltola H., Asikainen A. (2011b). Impacts of thinning and fertilization on timber and energy wood production in Norway spruce and Scots pine: scenario analyses based on ecosystem model simulations. Forestry 84(2): 159–175. http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.1093/forestry/cpr003

- Rüter S., Werner F., Forsell N., Prins C., Vial E., Levet A.-L. (2016). 'Climate benefits of material substitution by forest biomass and harvested wood products: Perspective 2030'. ClimWood2030. Final Report, Thünen Report 42, Braunschweig, Germany. http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.3220/REP1468328990000
- Rytter L., Andreassen K., Bergh J., Ekö P., Grönholm T., Lazdiòa D., Muiste P., Nord-larsen T. (2015). Availability of biomass for energy purposes in Nordic and Baltic countries: Land areas and biomass amounts. Baltic Forestry 21(2): 375–390. https://www.balticforestry.mi.lt/bf/PDF_Articles/2015-21[2]/Baltic%20Forestry%202015%2021(2) %20375_390%20Rytter%20et%20al.pdf.
- Rytter L., Ingerslev M., Kilpeläinen A., Torssonen P., Lazdina D., Löf M., Madsen P., Muiste P., Stener L.-G. (2016). Increased forest biomass production in the Nordic and Baltic countries – a review on current and future opportunities. Silva Fennica 50: 33 p. http://dx.doi.org/10.14214/sf.1660
- Sathre R., Gustavsson L. (2011). Time-dependent climate benefits of using forest residues to substitute fossil fuels. Biomass and Bioenergy 35: 2506–2516. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2011.02.027
- Sathre R., Gustavsson L. (2012). Time-dependent radiative forcing effects of forest fertilization and biomass substitution. Biogeochemistry 109: 203–218. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10533-011-9620-0
- Sathre R., Gustavsson L., Bergh J. (2010). Primary energy and greenhouse gas implications of increasing biomass production through forest fertilization. Biomass and Bioenergy 34(4): 572–581. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2010.01.038
- Sathre, R., O'Connor, J. (2010). Meta-analysis of greenhouse gas displacement factors of wood product substitution. Environmental Science & Policy 13: 104–114. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2009.12.005
- Schlamadinger B., Marland G. (1996). The role of forest and bioenergy strategies in the global carbon cycle. Biomass and Bioenergy 10: 275–300. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0961-9534(95)00113-1
- Smyth C., Kurz W.A., Rampley G.J., Lemprière T.C., Schwab O. (2017b). Climate change mitigation potential of local use of harvest residues for bioenergy in Canada. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 9: 817–832. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12386
- Smyth C., Rampley G., Lemprière T.C., Schwab O., Kurz W.A. (2017a). Estimating product and energy substitution benefits in national-scale mitigation analyses for Canada. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 9(6): 1071–1084. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12389
- Soimakallio S., Saikku L., Valsta L., Pingoud K. (2016). Climate change mitigation challenge for wood utilization—The case of Finland. Environmental Science & Technology 50: 5127– 5134.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b00122

- Statistics Finland (2016). Total energy consumption fell in 2014. http://www.stat.fi/til/ehk/2014/ehk_2014_2015-12-14_tie_001_en.html. [Cited 10 December 2017].
- Suter F., Steubing B., Hellweg S. (2017). Life cycle impacts and benefits of wood along the value chain, The Case of Switzerland. Journal of Industrial Ecology 21(4): 874–886. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12486
- Ter-Mikaelian M., Colombo S., Chen J. (2015b). The burning question: does forest bioenergy reduce carbon emissions. A review of common misconceptions about forest carbon accounting. Journal of Forestry 113: 57–68. http://dx.doi.org/10.5849/jof.14-016
- Ter-Mikaelian M.T., Colombo S.J., Lovekin D., McKechnie J., Reynolds R., Titus B., Laurin E., Chapman A.M., Chen J., MacLean H.L. (2015a). Carbon debt repayment or carbon sequestration parity? Lessons from a forest bioenergy case study in Ontario, Canada. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 7(4): 704–716. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12198
- Torssonen P., Kilpeläinen A., Strandman H., Kellomäki S., Jylhä K., Asikainen A., Peltola H. (2016). Effects of climate change and management on net climate impacts of production and utilization of energy biomass in Norway spruce with stable age-class distribution. Global Change Biology Bioenergy 8: 419–427. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12258

UNFCCC (2015). Adoption of the Paris Agreement. UNFCCC: Geneva, Switzerland. 32 p.

- Werner F., Taverna R., Hofer P., Richter K. (2005). Carbon pool and substitution effects of an increased use of wood in buildings in Switzerland: First estimates. Annals of Forest Science 62: 889–902. http://dx.doi.org/10.1051/forest:2005080
- Werner F., Taverna R., Hofer P., Thurig E., Kaufmann E. (2010). National and global greenhouse gas dynamics of different forest management and wood use scenarios: a model-based assessment. Environmental Science & Policy 13: 72–85. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2009.10.004
- Werner F., Vial E., Levet A.-L. (2015). Derivation of emission factors and displacement factors for forest based functional units and scenario assumptions on the future material use of wood. Technical report under the ClimWood 2030 project: Study on climate benefits of material substitution by forest biomass and harvested wood products: Perspective 2030. Werner Environment & Development, Zurich, FCBA, Paris. 184 p.
- Ylitalo E. (2014). Finnish Statistical Yearbook of Forestry, Metsätilastollinen Vuosikirja. Finnish Forest Research Institute. Vantaa, Finland. http://www.metla.fi/metinfo/tilasto/julkaisut/vsk/2014/index.html. [Cited 10 December 2016].

- Zubizarreta Gerendiain A., Garcia-Gonzalo J., Strandman H., Jylhä K., Peltola H. (2016). Regional effects of alternative climate change and management scenarios on timber production, economic profitability, and carbon stocks in Norway spruce forests in Finland. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 46: 274–283. http://dx.doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2015-0218
- Xu Z., Smyth C.E., Lemprière T.C., Rampley G.J., Kurz W.A. (2017). Climate change mitigation strategies in the forest sector: biophysical impacts and economic implications in British Columbia, Canada. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategy of Global Change 23: 257–290. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11027-016-9735-7
- Vass M.M., Elofsson K. (2016). Is forest carbon sequestration at the expense of bioenergy and forest products cost-efficient in EU climate policy to 2050? Journal of Forest Economics 24: 82–105. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jfe.2016.04.002